HA4758

talking about earlier, the money that
is made by people who work here but
sent home that now accounts for about
$15 billion to the Mexican government
and the Mexican economy.

And now it is higher, that is a great-
er amount than any other foreign in-
vestment in the country. It is greater
than the amount invested by tourists
in Mexico. It is second only in terms of
the dollars brought into the country to
PEMEX who is their Mexican-owned,
government-owned oil company.

So do you now understand why Presi-
dent Fox was here in the United States
essentially campaigning for his presi-
dency by asking people here to remain
connected to Mexico and complaining,
by the way, about their rights that he
says are being violated by the United
States? And that he says I will take up
this issue of your rights here with the
President of the United States, the
rights of people who have violated the
law to come into the country to begin
with.
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It is true that anybody here certainly
has a certain degree of human rights.
They have the right to life, but in
terms of all the other ‘‘rights of citi-
zenship,”” the right to vote, the right to
get driver’s licenses, the right to send
your children to higher education, all
those are supposedly reserved for peo-
ple who are here legally, whether they
came from Mexico or Guatemala or
Hungary or Italy or China, wherever
they came from. If they came here le-
gally, they have a right to all of those
things.

If you come here illegally, the ques-
tion is what are your rights, and cer-
tainly it is not the business of the
President of Mexico or any other for-
eign government to come in here and
lecture us about the ‘‘rights” we are
providing or not providing to citizens
from other countries. I would just end
by saying, if they are coming here ille-
gally, there is a solution to the prob-
lem. They can return. If their rights
are being violated, they can return
home. They are not doing that.

———

IRAQ WATCH

The SPEAKER pro tempore (Mr.
GERLACH). Under the Speaker’s an-
nounced policy of January 7, 2003, the
gentleman from Washington (Mr. INS-
LEE) is recognized for 60 minutes.

Mr. INSLEE. Mr. Speaker, we come
tonight again, the group that is styled
the Iraq Watch, or a group of my col-
leagues and myself who are committed
to continue to bring accountability to
this administration’s policies in Iraq,
to fulfill Congress’ oversight responsi-
bility to not allow administration mis-
takes in Iraq to go unheeded and have
no accountability for them; and we are
here tonight, and I expect the gen-
tleman from  Massachusetts (Mr.
DELAHUNT) and others will join me in
this discussion.

We have been doing this now for sev-
eral months; and tonight, as on many
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nights, I have great sadness walking
over here to speak this evening. Just as
I was leaving my apartment, I saw on
the news that we have lost two more
great American warriors in the service
of their country in Iraq, and I do not
know who these gallant Americans
were. I do not know where they are
from. I do not know what happened to
end their lives in Iraq, but I do know
this: those two proud and honorable
Americans deserved a President of the
United States who told the truth to the
American people before he started this
war that resulted in the tragedy of
these two people losing their lives.

I know that this Congress has a sol-
emn obligation to hold this administra-
tion accountable if, in fact, it is true
that this administration did not tell
the truth, the whole truth and nothing
but the truth to the American people
before this war started; and tonight, if
we seem a bit angry about this situa-
tion, it is because on our minds and on
our hearts are the death of these two
American soldiers and those who have
gone before and those who will come
after.

Our duty, as we see it tonight, is to
discuss the manifold failure of this ad-
ministration to, one, tell the truth in
Iraq; and, two, to pursue a policy that
would reduce the danger to our service
personnel serving in Iraq, and our dis-
cussion will proceed on those lines.

Now, let me start, if I can, on this
fundamental question: Did the Presi-
dent of the United States of America
fully level with the American people
before he started this war? That is the
question. If the answer is no, we think
that is one of the greatest assaults to
democracy that could possibly happen.

There are many things that can go
wrong in a democracy, but I would as-
sert that the most serious affront to
democratic principles of a representa-
tive government is for the elected lead-
ership to start a war based on false in-
formation. Nothing, nothing can be a
more serious breach of the solemn obli-
gations when one takes the oath of of-
fice than to start a war based on false-
hood, and we are here tonight to an-
swer the question of whether or not
that occurred.

So let me start at the beginning of
the Iraq war. The President of the
United States asserted that America
should start this war in Iraq based on
two fundamental pillars, and his entire
rationale for this war was based on
these two pillars. He was successful in
convincing a large majority of the
American people that those two pillars
were both factual, and those two pil-
lars were these two:

Number one, the President asserted
that Iraq possessed wholesale amounts
of weapons of mass destruction which
presented a threat to the United States
of America and our personal and our
family’s security. He told the Amer-
ican people that time after time after
time. This statement was false. This
fundamental pillar of this war was
false.
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This President told us and stood
right behind me and told the American
people that we had information, the
British had information that, in fact,
Iraq had obtained yellow cake to ex-
tract uranium from it to build a nu-
clear weapon. That statement was
false; and most importantly, the White
House knew it was false. The White
House had been told it was false. The
White House had sent an emissary to
Africa to check the accuracy of this
statement, and Ambassador Joe Wilson
who served proudly, who the first
President Bush described as a hero dur-
ing the first Persian Gulf War, came
back and told the White House this
statement was false. Two soldiers died
today in Iraq based on a falsehood that
was given to the American people that
the White House knew was false. This
pillar did not stand.

The President of the United States
told us that Iraq had drones that could
fly across the Atlantic, apparently, and
spray Americans with biological and
chemical weapons, and this scared the
living pants off people in America who
heard this, as it should have, and as the
White House knew that it would. Un-
fortunately, now that reports are
peeled away, we have found out that
even our own Air Force told the White
House this statement was false; that
they were Kkind of balsam wood things
meant to take pictures of troop move-
ments and the like.

So the first pillar upon which the
President of the United States sent sol-
diers to their death was false. So let us
examine the second pillar, if I can, for
a moment, and then I will yield to the
gentleman from Massachusetts (Mr.
DELAHUNT).

The second pillar upon which the
President’s scaffolding of falsehood was
built was a clear assertion that led to
a significant majority, seven out of 10
Americans, to believe that Iraq was as-
sociated, was behind the attack on this
country of September 11, and the Presi-
dent was successful, again, in creating
this impression. He was successful in
convincing seven out of 10 Americans
that Saddam Hussein was behind these
heinous, vile, indeed evil, attacks on
America of 9/11. But it was not true. It
was not true.

Now, we know it was not true be-
cause a bipartisan commission has
come back and stated categorically
there is no credible evidence; and I
want to read the quote to make sure I
get it right: ‘“We have no credible evi-
dence that Iraq and al Qaeda cooper-
ated on attacks against the United
States.”

Yet, seven out of 10 Americans were
convinced by this White House that
Saddam Hussein was behind these at-
tacks on America. Where did Ameri-
cans get that misimpression? Did they
get it from Dan Rather? Did they get it
from the New York Times? Did they
get it from the Shopping Channel? No.
They got it from the President of the
United States, who led these people to
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believe that Iraq was behind this at-
tack and that these folks were in an al-
liance with Iraq who attacked us.

Let us look at what the President
said. The President is saying, well, no,
I did not really mean to say that. Golly
gee, I did not mean to suggest or lead
anybody to believe that Saddam was
evil enough to have attacked us actu-
ally or that he was an ally. I just sort
of suggested they talked to one an-
other at some period of time. Well,
look at what the President said in fact.

In fact, the President, while he was
on the deck of the aircraft carrier
Abraham Lincoln, declaring the mission
accomplished, several hundred dead
Americans ago, he said the defeated
Hussein was ‘“‘an ally of al Qaeda.” An
ally of al Qaeda. Is the President now
to have us believe that he said that
Saddam was an ally of al Qaeda, but he
did not mean to suggest they actually
helped each other? Is that what he ex-
pects us to believe? That is very dif-
ficult to swallow.

The Secretary of State Colin Powell
told the United Nations that al Qaeda
was operating inside of Iraq, inside of
Iraq. It turns out we find out ‘‘inside of
Iraq” means they were in the Kurdish-
controlled area that was inside our no
fly zone. Now, are we supposed to know
that?

Mr. DELAHUNT. Mr. Speaker, will
the gentleman yield.

Mr. INSLEE. I yield to the gen-
tleman from Massachusetts.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Mr. Speaker, can 1
interrupt, because I think that is very
important because that has been an as-
sertion that I think is extremely mis-
leading to the American people.

My colleague referenced the no fly
zone; yet I imagine that there are
many of our colleagues on both sides of
the aisle and a number of Americans
that are watching this conversation to-
night that we are having and if you
hear it without understanding some of
the nuances, you hear al Qaeda was in
Iraq, but as that famous radio com-
mentator, I think his name was Paul
Harvey, said, there is another half of
that story.

Yes, there was a group that had some
nebulous link to al Qaeda, and they
were in Iraq; but they were not in Iraq
in the part that Saddam Hussein had
sway over. They were not in the part of
Iraq where Saddam Hussein had influ-
ence. They were not in the part of Iraq
that Saddam Hussein had any control.
They were in the part of Iraq, as my
colleague mentioned, in the so-called
Kurdish area up in these mountains.

There was a group of some 200 or 300,
and they were not directly linked to al
Qaeda; but, yes, they were a terrorist
group and one that we should not in
any way countenance. They were a
threat, if you will, to people of good-
will all over this world; but they were
not a part or had any relationship, col-
laborative or otherwise, with Saddam
Hussein.
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And yet again and again, this White
House continues to talk about al Qaeda
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and Iraq, but what they do not say is
that it was a group that was in Iraq
that was outside of the influence of
Saddam Hussein. It was in, as indi-
cated, in the so-called no-fly zone. Sad-
dam Hussein did not dare enter that
zone.

Mr. INSLEE. And yet the President
of the United States just left out that
little fact that they were in the part of
Iraq that Saddam did not control when
he discussed this issue.

Now, this omission has led many peo-
ple to be very concerned, even those
who have supported President Bush. I
note this editorial in the Dallas Morn-
ing News of June 22, 2004. This is a
newspaper that supported President
Bush’s election. In fact, they noted
that in this editorial, and they have
listened to the administration’s re-
sponse to the 9/11 Commission. They
have listened to this sort of excuse-
making that has come out of the White
House to try to excuse this. But look
what the Dallas Morning News, a news-
paper that has supported President
Bush, said.

It said, “U.S. troops have found no
Iraqi weapons of mass destruction, and
the 9/11 panel says there was no work-
ing partnership between al Qaeda and
Saddam Hussein. President Bush pre-
sented both WMD and the al Qaeda-
Hussein link as reasons for striking
Iraq before it attacks us.

“The President has a credibility gap
here, and he needs to address it right
away. Vice President DICK CHENEY
tried but failed miserably. He said, in
effect, ‘we know more than you and
you better trust us.””

And then, I might have to subscribe
to the Dallas Morning News, because I
think in the next paragraph they hit
the nail on the head. ‘““The country did
just that when we went to the war in
Iraq, but things aren’t working as
promised. The administration needs to
respond with specifics, not like mem-
bers of a secret society with keys to
the kingdom.”’

But the unfortunate truth is there
really is nothing the administration
can now say to excuse the fact that
they gave us false information to start
the war.

Let me note just one other quote.
Vice President CHENEY, who is now
saying we did not really intend to
imply that there was a working rela-
tionship between al Qaeda and Iraq, we
did not mean to say that, but what did
Vice President CHENEY say before the
war started? He said on Meet the Press
that by attacking Iraq, ‘“We will have
struck a major blow right at the heart
of the base, if you will, the geographic
base of the terrorists who had us under
assault now for years, but most espe-
cially on 9/11.”

Now, obviously the vice president
was trying to create an impression
that we were going to be striking back
at the people who struck us on Sep-
tember 11. That is the obvious implica-
tion of his language. I do not think he
was simply trying to point out that
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Iraq is in the Middle East. I do not
think it was a geographic lesson he was
trying to give us. He was trying to
build support for a war that was based
on two huge falsehoods, one falsehood
about weapons of mass destruction and
another about this alleged working re-
lationship between Iraq and al Qaeda.

Now, there are connections between
Iraq and al Qaeda. They both have “Q”’
in their names, but the 9/11 Commis-
sion concluded there was no working
relationship between these two groups.

Let me mention one thing, and I will
yield to the gentleman from Ohio. In
fact, what the 9/11 Commission, again,
a bipartisan commission, chaired by
the former New Jersey governor, Re-
publican governor, bipartisan group,
what they concluded was that years
back, back in 1994, Osama bin Laden
had, in fact, asked Iraq for help but had
been rejected.

Now, that may be a contact, but it is
not a basis for a war, and it is most un-
fortunate now that even today this
White House will not come clean about
their manifest falsehoods that they
gave us. And until they do, we will be
here blowing the whistle on these false-
hoods.

Mr. STRICKLAND. I would just say
to my friend from Washington State,
why is this important? And the Amer-
ican people may be asking why we
stand here and talk about the decisions
in the past that led to this war, and I
would just simply say it is important,
because we have lost somewhere in the
vicinity of 850 precious American lives.
We have well over 4,000 precious Amer-
ican soldiers who have been terribly
wounded. Many of them have lost their
arms and their legs and their sight, and
they have been damaged for the rest of
their lives. That is why it is important.

And it is important, because the
same people, the same people who took
us into this war based, as was said, on
false assumptions and false premises
are the same people who are still in
charge and who are making decisions
for what is happening right now and
want to be in power to make decisions
about what happens next year and the
year after that and the year after that.
That is why it is important for the
American people to understand what
has happened, because we need a
change of leadership.

Before I yield to my friend from Mas-
sachusetts, just let me say this. There
may be people who observe this debate
and feel somehow disconnected from
this war. They may have no one fight-
ing in Iraq that they love or are related
to or even know, but if they have got
children, if there are parents watching
who have 13, 14, 15, 17-year-old sons and
daughters, they ought to pay attention
to this debate, because we have
stretched our military so thin, and
that is why we are extending the
months of service for our National
Guardspersons and our Reserve per-
sons.

We do not have the capacity, in my
judgment, to really respond to some-
thing if it happens in Iran, or in North
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Korea. What are we going to do? I will
tell you what we are going to do if this
administration gets another term. We
are going to have to impose a military
draft. If we impose a military draft, the
next time there are not going to be the
exceptions that many of us had avail-
able to us in years past. There will not
be exceptions for educational studies, I
do not believe, something that I took
advantage of and that Vice President
Dick CHENEY took advantage of.

So the parents in this country need
to be watching this debate. If they
have got children and they do not want
their sons and daughters to be subject
to a military draft, then they ought to
be involved and engaged in what is hap-
pening in the United States of America
today, because our military is
stretched thin. We do need more troops
in Iraq, as General Shinseki warned us
many, many months ago, before he was
pushed aside and mocked, and quite
frankly, made fun of and ridiculed by
the Vice President and others in this
administration.

That is why I have constituents, we
all have constituents, who have been
pulled from their communities, sepa-
rated from their families, sent to Iraq,
expecting to be there for a limited, set
period of months. And now what are
they being told? They are being told,
we have got a stop loss policy in place.
You cannot even leave to return home
or to leave the service when your con-
tractual obligation is up, because we
simply do not have a sufficient number
of men and women in our Armed
Forces. That is the sad truth that we
face as we debate this tonight.

Mr. INSLEE. Let me suggest, and the
gentleman brings up a very important
point, it has been called a stop loss
order, but it really is a start the draft
order. This is a silent draft. These peo-
ple are being drafted into service they
did not sign up for. They signed up for
a definite term and they are now being
drafted. They happen to be in Iraq
right now, but we are already seeing
the implications of the policy as the
gentleman has addressed. It comes
back and again the Dallas Morning
News called it the Iraq Trust Gap, this
is the President and his neocon col-
leagues who were telling us that this
war would be simple, we would be wel-
comed with rose petals, our people
would be home in a reasonable period
of time, it would not stress our mili-
tary, we only needed 100,000 troops,
there would not be massive looting
after we had this amount, there would
not be casualties after a period of time,
the mission was accomplished back in
May 2003.

All of these things are appropriately
creating a trust gap not only for the
President, but for the United States.

Mr. STRICKLAND. I want to read an-
other paragraph or two from the Dallas
Morning News. This is no left-wing
newspaper. This is the Dallas Morning
News, a major newspaper in the Presi-
dent’s home State. They said at the be-
ginning of their editorial:
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A time comes in most administrations
when supporters tell the President he has a
problem. Bob Dole told Ronald Reagan that
he should worry about the deficit. Tip
O’Neill told Jimmy Carter that he had better
improve his icy relationship with Capitol
Hill. And George W. Bush told his father that
White House chief of staff John Sununu
needed to go.

The supporters find themselves like
skunks at the garden party. They back the
President but see a problem. And they decide
to speak out.

We find ourselves in that position with
President Bush and the war in Iraq. We sup-
ported the President when he ran for office.
We backed the war in Iraq. But now we won-
der, what happened?”’

What happened is this, that the
American people and this Congress
were given information that was false
and we were encouraged to believe
something that was not true. There is
no evidence that Saddam Hussein, as
bad as he was, as evil and despicable as
he was, had anything to do with the at-
tack upon the United States of Amer-
ica. And the American people needed to
know that before our sons and daugh-
ters were sent to war in Iraq. It is true
that Osama bin Laden was responsible.
It is true the Taliban were responsible.
That is why every Member of this
Chamber, save one, supported our deci-
sion to go to war in Afghanistan.

We supported the overthrow of the
Taliban. Many of us have been calling
for months for an increased effort to
find, apprehend or kill Osama bin
Laden. He was the one who orches-
trated the attack upon this country,
and tonight he is roaming free some-
where on the face of this earth plan-
ning the next attack. Can we imagine
that if we had taken the resources and
put the effort into finding Osama bin
Laden that we have invested in Iraq, do
any of us believe that we would not
have found this man and have put him
out of business?

I think it is beyond question that if
we had put the resources into finding
Osama bin Laden and fighting al
Qaeda, we would not be worrying to-
night about what that man may be
planning in terms of the next attack
upon our Nation. But we did not do
that. We diverted resources to Iraq and
consequently the real enemy, the real
threat to our country, is roaming free
this very night.

Mr. INSLEE. I have got to add just
one more thing before I go to the gen-
tleman from Massachusetts. Another
thing the administration did in not
finding Osama bin Laden, in not cut-
ting off the head of al Qaeda, I got a
letter today, because I was trying to
investigate, I asked the Department of
Treasury, is it true that the adminis-
tration 2 days after September 11, al-
lowed a chartered jet airplane to fly
around America picking up Osama bin
Laden’s relatives and flying them out
of the country before they were fully
interrogated and debriefed about the
potential relationship with Osama and
al Qaeda and over 100 Saudi citizens
where now we know the attack ema-
nated from? They answered, yes, that
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is true. Our administration, when no
one else could fly in America, people
were stranded here, had to drive across
America to get home from Washington,
D.C., but while you had to drive home
from Washington, D.C., the President
of the United States, the administra-
tion, told all the Saudi Arabians, we
will let you fly, without even talking
to the CIA or the Department of Treas-
ury to find out if they were associated
with this.

They said, indeed, that was true. I
asked them, why is that? They frankly
could not give me an answer. That is
just one problem we have got.

I yield to the gentleman from Massa-
chusetts.

Mr. DELAHUNT. I would like to sub-
mit that the real danger here is be-
cause of this diversion which is a mili-
tary intervention, a war on Iraq that it
subverts, detracts from the real war
that threatens the American people.
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The war by fundamental Islamist ter-
rorists that, because of our interven-
tion in Iraq, are every day spawning
new groups and new terrorists. The pol-
icy of this administration in terms of
the so-called war on terror is creating,
I would submit, a situation where if it
continues, yes, we have won the war in
Iraq, but we will lose the war on terror.
It is very important that the American
people, those that are watching our
conversation here tonight, understand
that there is a profound distinction be-
tween this adventure in Iraq for rea-
sons that at some point in time we
should really get into: Why did we end
up going to Iraq? Well, we know this
from people within the administration,
far in advance of September 11, the day
of our national tragedy, plans for war
against Iraq were being designed.

Mr. STRICKLAND. Mr. Speaker, will
the gentleman yield?

Mr. INSLEE. I yield to the gen-
tleman from Ohio.

Mr. STRICKLAND. Mr. Speaker,
former Governor Kean, the Chair of the
9/11 Commission, a Republican, a high-
ly respected Republican ex-Governor,
has said, and he said it over the week-
end, I heard him, that there were many
more reasons to believe there was a
connection between al Qaeda and Iran.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Why did we not go
into Iran? Why?

Mr. STRICKLAND. Mr. Speaker, that
is a question that needs to be explored.
And, quite frankly, now we know that
Iran apparently is going to pursue
their nuclear capabilities. And what
are we going to do about it? What are
we going to do about it? With 135,000
troops bogged down in Iraq, how can we
pose a credible threat to Iran to try to
get them not to pursue nuclear capa-
bilities?

I think we have overextended our-
selves, we are exhausting our troops,
and we are putting ourselves in great
jeopardy as a Nation. And our national
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security is in jeopardy, I believe, be-
cause we have overextended ourselves;
we have miscalculated in Iraq. And we
will find ourselves hard pressed to meet
a threat anywhere else on Earth if we
were in need of a significant number of
troops anywhere else. And I think that
is a serious problem that this entire
Chamber should be addressing.

Mr. INSLEE. Mr. Speaker, if I may, I
would like to attempt to answer the
question why we are in Iraq rather
than Iran, and the answer is because we
have an administration who is willing
to follow their ideology rather than the
evidence. They are willing to say
things as long as it is consistent with
their ideological beliefs even if it is in-
consistent with the facts as given to
them by our intelligence agents.

Let me give an example. The Vice
President now for 2 years has just kept
spouting this statement that the rea-
son we should invade Iraq is because
there was a meeting, one of the rea-
sons, because there was a meeting be-
tween Mohammed Atta and an Iraqi in-
telligence person in Prague.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Mr. Speaker, Mo-
hammed Atta, by the way, for those
who are watching us, was the leader of
the 19 hijackers that were responsible
for our national day of tragedy.

Mr. INSLEE. Mr. Speaker, so he has
been saying this over and over again in
city and town and ‘‘Meet the Press”
and who knows where else. And what
did the bipartisan commission con-
clude about this key of his whole argu-
ment that Saddam Hussein had a work-
ing alliance with al Qaeda? They con-
cluded: ‘““We have examined the allega-
tion that Atta met with an Iraqi intel-
ligence officer in Prague on April 9.
Based on the evidence available, in-
cluding investigations by Czech and
U.S. authorities, plus detainee report-
ing, we do not believe that such a
meeting’’ occurred.

So despite the best intelligence of
the United States of America, the Vice
President is willing to continue to
spout something that is false, accord-
ing to our best intelligence, in order to
back up this ideological fixation of in-
vading Iraq. That is why we are in this
war, because we have an administra-
tion willing to do that.

Mr. STRICKLAND. Mr. Speaker, let
me say this, if I may. Some people
think if you repeat something often
enough even if it is not true, people
will come to believe that it is true.

Mr. DELAHUNT. It is called the big
lie theory.

Mr. STRICKLAND. The big lie the-
ory. And the fact is that this is being
repeated over and over and over in the
face of evidence of this bipartisan com-
mission that it is simply not true. Why
would a member of this administration
continue to say something to the
American people that is not true?

Mr. DELAHUNT. Mr. Speaker, if I
can interrupt, and we are joined by the
gentleman from Hawaii (Mr. ABER-
CROMBIE).

We all remember, of course, that it
was again this White House that as-
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signed a former United Nations inspec-
tor to go and search for the weapons of
mass destruction in Iraq. His name is
David Kay. He is universally described
as someone of great integrity, of great
expertise. He does his job, and he
comes back and he claims that we were
all wrong. That is months ago. This
particular cover of Newsweek is dated
February of this year. We were all
wrong. There were no weapons of mass
destruction. There were no links to al
Qaeda and Saddam Hussein. And yet he
is befuddled and disturbed by the fact
that this President and this Vice Presi-
dent will not own up to the fact. He
was interviewed by a British news-
paper, and his recommendation to
President Bush and particularly Vice
President CHENEY, because if there is
anyone who has pushed this particular
adventure, it is the Vice President of
the United States, RICHARD CHENEY.
Let us just put it out here tonight. And
I am quoting him, assigned by this
White House, presumably a Republican,
a hawk on the war, he says, ‘It is
about confronting and coming clean
with the American people, not just
slipping a phrase into the State of the
Union speech. He should say we were
mistaken and I am determined to find
out why.” And they will not let go.
They will not let go.

Mr. INSLEE. Mr. Speaker, I yield to
the gentleman from Hawaii (Mr. ABER-
CROMBIE).

Mr. ABERCROMBIE. Mr. Speaker, I
think the hearing that we had in the
Committee on Armed Services today
makes clear that they have moved
from that position to the point that it
does not matter. That is essentially
the point that Mr. Wolfowitz was tak-
ing today, the Deputy Secretary of De-
fense, Mr. Paul Wolfowitz, who is one
of the individuals that has been cited
here and has been involved in the deci-
sionmaking based on this false intel-
ligence.

Mr. STRICKLAND. Mr. Speaker,
would the gentleman let me say a word
about Mr. Wolfowitz, since he brought
up his name? He is, in fact, one of the
architects of this war, as we know. He
is the Deputy Secretary of Defense.
And I was appalled a few weeks ago
when he was asked how many Amer-
ican soldiers we had lost in Iraq, and
this man who pursued this war and who
is the Deputy Secretary of Defense did
not know. He implied that there may
be about 500 who had been killed. At
that time there had been 721. Every
morning when Mr. Wolfowitz wakes up,
he ought to be thinking about the sol-
diers who have been lost over there.
And I am sorry I interrupted my friend.

Mr. INSLEE. Mr. Speaker, I want to
make sure the good gentleman from
Hawaii can share some wisdom.

Mr. ABERCROMBIE. Mr. Speaker, it
is not interference at all, believe me,
because this is complementary to what
has been said. I can tell the gentleman
on April 20 of this year, he is thinking
about an army. Here is what he said to
the Committee on Armed Services, Mr.
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Wolfowitz said, on April 20: ‘“There is
no question it would be nice right now
to have a larger army.”’” These are the
same people that were claiming, and
reclaimed again today, that General
Shinseki was wrong. He did not men-
tion General Shinseki, but he went out
of his way to make sure that everybody
understood that we did not need a
greater Armed Forces even though he
said so; it would be nice to have a larg-
er Army but absent that, after all, we
can on the 200,000 security forces that
he says are now in place.

I have his testimony here before me,
a written statement given today before
the Committee on Armed Services in
which he indicates on Page 3 that we
are going to be full partners with the
Iraqis. This has to do with the sov-
ereignty issue, that they are going to
take the lead, he says elsewhere, that
they have 200,000 Iraqis in a security
force that is a ‘“‘work in progress,” an
interesting way of looking at it, that
according to the Prime Minister, as re-
lated by Mr. Wolfowitz, they are ready
to take charge on July 1. There has
been enormous progress.

So I asked him today, well, is there
an end in sight? And there is no end in
sight. It is schizophrenic. I pointed
that out to him today. On the one
hand, everything is fine, everything is
working according to plan, maybe a lit-
tle bit behind schedule, but nonetheless
working its way right along; and on the
other hand, we are going to have to be
there forever as some Kkind of partner.
I asked partners, I understand the word
“partner’” and the phrase ‘‘full part-
ner.”” What does it mean in terms of
who is in charge in relation to these
young and men as well as some older
members of the Guard and Reserves
who are being killed and wounded? Who
is in charge? I cannot get from General
Pace, I cannot get from Secretary
Wolfowitz, who is in charge. Who
makes the decisions? They are talking
about a partnership on all levels, re-
gional, national, and local; a unity of
command; a consensus on the way
ahead. And it is supposed to be working
out of what are called joint operating
centers. How these joint operating cen-
ters are supposed to make any deci-
sions regionally or locally or nation-
ally is beyond me.

What is clear from the testimony
today is all the discussion that has
been taking place about the reasons for
going to this war have been entirely
set aside; and now apparently what the
mission of the United States is, is to
act as some kind of backup force, ac-
cording to them: ““U.S. forces are there
to help out. They are backup.” That is
the motto, a backup force for whatever
is to take place now to achieve some
kind of nation-building. That is now
what our mission is all about. It has
nothing to do with weapons of mass de-
struction. It has nothing to do with
anything else that was used as a ref-
erence point for why we are going to
war, an immediate threat to the United
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States in terms of weapons of mass de-
struction, some kind of military con-
nection to terrorist organizations that
are an immediate threat to the United
States.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Mr. Speaker, when
are they going to go and fight the war
on terror and absolutely defeat ter-
rorism?

Mr. ABERCROMBIE. Mr. Speaker, 1
will answer the gentleman; but accord-
ing to Mr. Wolfowitz today, terror is
now being defined as the insurgency in
Iraq. If there was not anything before,
we have now created it as a result of
the actions that we took based on this
false information.

So now the situation has been rede-
fined. The war on terror has been rede-
fined to be the activities of what are
termed killers and terrorists and all
kinds of anecdotal references as to
what that means. We have to go no fur-
ther than what happened today, an as-
sassination in Mosul of the head of a
law school and her husband being be-
headed, killed with her and beheaded;
another American soldier dying; road-
side bombings, all the rest of these
kinds of activities taking place so that
what was going to happen, in my judg-
ment, on July 1 is that the American
military will be set adrift in a desert
sea with no compass, with no direction,
with nothing except to provide backup
under this full partnership in these so-
called joint operating centers to make
decisions about what we are going to
do with the military in Iraq. I was un-
able to determine today from Mr.
Wolfowitz exactly what the role of the
Guard and Reserve forces and what the
deployment schedule are going to be.
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I asked, is there an end in sight? I
got Korea, 50 years. I got Germany as
an answer. I got Bosnia as an answer. 1
said, if that is the case, if you are
going to cite Bosnia, which he does
over and over again, in Bosnia there
has been a steady drawdown of troops.
Times and schedules are announced.
Troops have been drawn down. If we
are talking about Korea or Germany,
none of the conditions prevail in South
Korea or Germany that prevail in Iraq
today. So, the analogies are at best to-
tally inaccurate and have nothing to
do with what is taking place today in
Iraq.

The question remains, if the reasons
for going to war have now proven to be
at best inadequate, and, at worst, false
and misleading, and deliberately so in
order to fulfill whatever ideological
agenda was then in place in the Bush
administration, the fact is now that
the mission of the United States mili-
tary is to somehow provide a backdrop,
a foundation or background to this in-
creasingly apparent civil war that is
now underway in Iraq.

Mr. DELAHUNT. If the gentleman
will yield, can I ask a very brief ques-
tion? What did he say about the ter-
rorist cells that now exist in Iran, in
Syria, in Pakistan, in Sudan, in Indo-
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nesia, and I could list a long litany of
other terrorist cells that are a threat
to the United States? What did he say,
if anything; or is he just simply fo-
cused on Iraq?

Mr. ABERCROMBIE. Because the
question arose in several contexts, in-
cluding questions and observations
made by the gentleman from Pennsyl-
vania (Mr. WELDON) and others on the
Republican side of the committee. We
try very hard in that committee to
work together as Americans to try to
come to these conclusions. The gen-
tleman from Pennsylvania (Mr.
WELDON) raised the issue of Iran. Other
issues were raised with regard to Iran
and Syria with the border police.

The best that I can discern out of all
of this is that somehow this war was to
prevent this from taking place, that is
to say, the increased terrorist activi-
ties to the degree it can be associated
with reference to Syria or Iran, but I
was unable to get out of his answers
anything that would indicate how
could we deal with it.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Have the terrorists
left Iran and Syria and Sudan? What is
he saying?

Mr. INSLEE. Mr. Speaker, reclaim-
ing my time, let me make a suggestion.
There might be a reason the gentleman
from Hawaii (Mr. ABERCROMBIE) might
have trouble understanding  Mr.
Wolfowitz.

Mr. ABERCROMBIE. I do not have
trouble understanding him.

Mr. INSLEE. Or accepting his expla-
nation, is I suspect the gentleman from
Hawaii (Mr. ABERCROMBIE) does not
share Mr. Wolfowitz’s belief that it
does not matter that this war was
started, based and started on a false-
hood. I suspect the gentleman from Ha-
waii (Mr. ABERCROMBIE) agrees with me
that when you look in the eyes of a
young widow, as I have, who lost their
husband as a result of this multitude of
falsehoods by this administration, it
matters a whole heck of a lot. And this
administration is now trying to de-
mean and belittle the fact that they
started a war based on falsehood, and
they think that Americans are just
going to forget it, and somehow we are
supposed to forget the incompetence,
the rank incompetence, the multitude
of tactical, logistical, strategic mis-
takes they made time after time, of
total ignorance about the cultural situ-
ation in Iraq, about the looting we
knew was going to happen, and some-
how we are supposed to forgive and for-
get that.

Mr. ABERCROMBIE. If the gen-
tleman will yield, I will tell you ex-
actly what Mr. Wolfowitz thinks on
that subject. In the New York Times
Magazine, interviewed by Bill Keller in
September of 2002, a year after the 9/11
activity, I will tell you exactly what he
said.

“There is an awful lot we don’t know,
an awful lot we may never know, and
we have got to think differently about
standards of proof here. In fact, there
is no way you can prove that some-
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thing is going to happen 3 years from
now or 6 years from now. But these
people have made absolutely clear
what their intentions are, and we know
a lot about their capabilities. Inten-
tions and capabilities are the way you
think about warfare. Proof beyond a
reasonable doubt is the way you think
about law enforcement. And I think we
are much closer to being in a state of
war than being in a judicial pro-
ceeding.”

That should give you a very brief
summary of the answer that would be
forthcoming to the questions you just
raised, namely, it does not matter.

Mr. INSLEE. Reclaiming my time, I
may note that the people who are re-
sponsible for the mistake of not put-
ting enough troops in Iraq to quell the
looting that was sure to occur, the peo-
ple who made the mistakes about as-
sessing the threat level posed by Iraq,
the people who did not provide body
armor to our soldiers when they went
to war without adequate flak jackets,
the people who sent our soldiers into
the streets of Baghdad in canvas-lined
Humvees instead of armored personnel
carriers, who ignored the fact that we
were going to need to protect our sol-
diers against these improvised explo-
sive devices, the people who have made
all of these mistakes are still the peo-
ple in charge of our policy in Iraq. Not
one person in the civilian hierarchy of
the Bush administration who is respon-
sible for these massive foul-ups that
have cost hundreds of lives has lost
their job or a day’s vacation as a result
of these foul-ups.

Mr. STRICKLAND. If the gentleman
will yield, I think the reason they have
not lost their jobs is because these de-
cisions were made at the very highest
levels of this administration. I do not
think we can blame the lowly bureau-
crats. I think the people in the highest
positions of decision making in this ad-
ministration are responsible. So, are
they going to fire themselves? Prob-
ably not.

Mr. INSLEE. Of course, I am refer-
ring to the Secretary of Defense, who is
the primary architect for this, and Mr.
Wolfowitz, who is an architect of this.
These are the decisionmakers that
should be held accountable for these
foul-ups. I hope the gentleman from
Ohio (Mr. STRICKLAND) agrees with me.

Mr. STRICKLAND. Yes, I agree.

Now, if I can just make an observa-
tion: I think the American people
would accept from this administration,
from the President, a statement that
things have not gone just the way they
hoped they would go; that perhaps mis-
takes have been made.

What I think the American people
will not accept is a continuation of a
failed policy that grows out of an un-
willingness or an inability to accept re-
sponsibility for mistakes, to admit
those mistakes, and to change course.
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Quite frankly, I believe it takes
strength and courage to admit a mis-
take. What I see from this administra-
tion is a stubbornness and an arro-
gance that is unwilling to admit even
one mistake.

My friend mentions sending our
troops into Iraq without body armor.
The war started in March of 2003. It
was March 2004, March of this year, be-
fore all of our troops were provided
with body armor. I ask, how many
troops were unnecessarily wounded and
how many lost their lives simply be-
cause of the incompetence of those at
the Pentagon who sent them into bat-
tle without this protection?

Right tonight, as the gentleman from
Hawaii (Mr. ABERCROMBIE), the gen-
tleman from  Massachusetts (Mr.
DELAHUNT), my friend the gentleman
from Washington (Mr. INSLEE) and my-
self stand here in this Chamber, there
are soldiers driving around in Baghdad
and in other cities in Iraq who are
using Humvees that are not armored
Humvees, and many of them are being
injured by driving over roadside bombs,
and, because those Humvees are not ar-
mored, they are being seriously wound-
ed and in some cases losing their lives.
Somebody ought to be held account-
able for that.

If we are going to send our troops
into battle, the very least we can do as
a government is to make sure that ev-
erything we can do to give them ade-
quate equipment and proper protection
is done. For us not to do that is shame-
ful.

Mr. DELAHUNT. That goes back to
the issue of competence, and that is
where, in addition to the issue of credi-
bility, this administration, this White
House, has failed miserably.

Mr. ABERCROMBIE. Can the gen-
tleman yield, so I can tell him what
Mr. Wolfowitz would respond, or how
he responded today to the questions
the gentleman is raising, and particu-
larly what Mr. INSLEE has cited in de-
tail. I quote from page 8 of his written
statement given to the Committee on
Armed Services today.

‘““Although the reconstruction plans
first envisioned in the summer of 2002
and submitted by the Coalition Provi-
sional Authority to Congress last July
have undergone substantial changes, it
has been the coalition’s ability to
adapt to rapidly changing cir-
cumstances that has brought us now to
the transfer of sovereignty and the be-
ginning of representative government
in Iraq.”

Mr. DELAHUNT. If the gentleman
will yield, can the gentleman tell me
and tell those that might be watching
our conversation tonight, what has
been the cost, not in terms of the lives
of our children, but what has been the
cost to the American taxpayers for this
adventure?

Mr. ABERCROMBIE. The commit-
ment is upwards of $150 billion. That
does not include the taxes that are now
being imposed, and I use that with
quotation marks around it because
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that is how it is characterized, within
the military itself.

The existing military budget is being
taxed, money extracted from it for
operational purposes. The capacity to
expend construction funds of $18 bil-
lion-plus are committed, but are not
necessarily expended just yet. The
plain fact is we are talking between
$150 billion and $200 billion.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Already to date it
has cost the American taxpayers $200
billion to build roads in Iraq, to pro-
vide Iraqis with good health care, to
clean up their environment and to
stimulate their economy.

Mr. INSLEE. Reclaiming my time,
there is an element of this expenditure
that is grossly wrong, and that is the
most polite sense I can say it. The Gen-
eral Accounting Office, the nonpartisan
group that basically looks at the finan-
cial system of the country, concludes
that the United States misspent, mean-
ing this administration, misspent at
least $1 billion in Iraq in the Iraq war
to date, and that was as of June 16.
They made reference to multiple cases
of the Halliburton Corporation
misspending millions of dollars of tax-
payer money.

Let me give you one very small ex-
ample of how Halliburton Corporation
misspent taxpayer money. Halliburton,
of course, is the company that got a
sole source provider bid; a company
that the vice president just recently
has been CEO of, they did not send it
out to bid to any other corporations,
gave a special deal to Halliburton, and
look what Halliburton did with your
money.

Before the war, a Kuwaiti firm had
the contract to provide meals to troops
at four bases in Kuwait. Just before the
fighting started, and this is from the
General Accounting Office, not some
leftist group saying this, just before
the fighting started, the Pentagon
turned the job over to Halliburton sub-
sidiary KBR, Kellogg Brown and Root.
As part of the switch, the costs went up
from $3 a meal to $5 a meal, for the
cost, from $3 to $5.

So, here is just one small example
that happened thousands of times
where the American taxpayers got
gouged $1 billion, much of which went
to the Halliburton company on a sole
source contract.

If this does not smell like a mackerel
in the moonlight, I do not know what
does.

Mr. STRICKLAND. If the gentleman
will yield further, can I say something?
I know our time is coming to an end,
but the gentleman from Massachusetts
(Mr. DELAHUNT) talked about building
roads and bridges and hospitals and
schools in Iraq, neglecting our own do-
mestic needs. If I can quickly share an
example of how this administration
seems to prefer Iraqis over Americans.

As we all have heard, Secretary
Rumsfeld wants to compensate the
Iraqi prisoners who were abused in the
Abu Ghraib prison. I do not have any
problem with that. But I do have a
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problem with this: Seventeen American
POWs that were tortured in that same
prison, they were tortured with elec-
tricity, they were threatened with cas-
tration, they were threatened with sui-
cide, their bones were broken, they
went to court and sued Saddam Hus-
sein and the Iraqi regime and a court
gave them compensation. This admin-
istration appealed that decision, fought
the American POWs, and a newspaper
in my region read like this. They said
it was the United States of America
and Saddam Hussein versus American
POWSs, and the United States and Sad-
dam Hussein won.

What is good for the goose is good for
the gander. If Secretary Rumsfeld
wants to compensate the Iraqi pris-
oners, the American ex-POWs deserve
equal compensation.
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Mr. DELAHUNT. Mr. Speaker, we
know, we know what the commander of
the VFW, the Veterans of Foreign
Wars, a highly-esteemed organization
serving veterans in this country, had
to say about this administration’s sub-
mission of a veterans budget to the
United States Congress. That com-
mander called it a sham and a fraud.
So this is not inconsistent.

If T could just leave my colleagues
with one question. We have talked
about we could not find the weapons of
mass destruction. We cannot find the
links, if you will, of the collaborative
relationship between Saddam Hussein
and al Qaeda.

Has anyone looked for the plans that
were crafted by Saddam Hussein that
indicated that he was prepared to at-
tack the United States?

Mr. INSLEE. Well, yes. In fact, we
have spent millions of dollars of tax-
payers’ money looking for that, but
they apparently do not exist.

Now, let me suggest one thing that
the President of the United States
could have done to help his fellow
Americans when we made a decision
whether or not to go to war. He could
have leveled with the American people.
He could have told the American peo-
ple that to the best of our knowledge
there is no credible evidence that Sad-
dam Hussein was responsible for the
heinous, evil attack on America of Sep-
tember 11. He has talked to the Amer-
ican people probably six times a day
for the last 2 years, and this President
has never said that. This is wrong. We
intend to maintain accountability for
this administration.

Mr. Speaker, I want to thank my col-
leagues for joining me tonight for the
Iraq Watch, which will continue on
other nights.

——————

ANNOUNCEMENT BY THE SPEAKER
PRO TEMPORE

The SPEAKER pro tempore (Mr.
GERLACH). The Chair will remind all
Members that remarks in debate
should be addressed to the Chair and
not to the viewing audience. Also,
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